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complaint
Complainant Venice Jet Center, LLC (“VJC”), by and through the undersigned counsel, hereby file a Part 16 Complaint pursuant to Title 14, Code of Federal Regulations, Part 16 (Rules of Practice for Federally Assisted Airport Enforcement Proceedings) against the Respondent City of Venice (“the City” or “Respondent”), and in support thereof, states as follows: 
parties
1. The Complainant VJC is a Florida limited liability company, of which Arthur Nadel was previously a managing member.  On January 27, 2009, Burton W. Wiand was appointed by the United States District Court, Middle District of Florida, Tampa Division to serve as the Receiver over a number of entities, including the VJC.  See Exh. 1: Order Appointing Receiver Over VJC.  The VJC is located at 400 Airport Ave. East, Venice, Florida 34285, and may be contacted through its undersigned counsel. 
2. The Respondent City of Venice, Florida is the sponsor, proprietor and operator of a Federally assisted airport, the Venice Municipal Airport (“the Airport”).  Respondent is located at 401 West Venice Avenue, Venice, Florida 34285 and may be contacted through its counsel, Robert C. Anderson of Hall & Anderson, P.A, who is located at 1314 East Venice Ave., Ste. E, Venice, Florida 34285.  Respondent has seven members on its City Council, which is the legislative body authorized to enact municipal laws for the City.  
3. Certain current and/or former City Council Members took action on behalf of Respondent in violation of FAA law, which is the subject of this Complaint.   
4. Suzanne Lang (“Lang”) was elected to the Venice City Council in November 2007.  She currently holds the position of Vice Mayor.  Lang is the past president of the Venice Neighborhoods Coalition, Inc., a private interest group that opposes expansion of the Airport.  Lang resides in a neighborhood located in close proximity to the Airport. 
5. Ed Martin (“Martin”) was elected to the Venice City Council in November 2007.   He currently holds the position of Mayor.  Martin resides in a neighborhood located in close proximity to the Airport.  
6. Ernie Zavodnyik (“Zavodnyik”) was elected to the Venice City Council in November 2007.  He is currently a Council Member.  He is a member of the Venice Neighborhoods Coalition, Inc.  Zavodnyik resides in a neighborhood located in close proximity to the Airport.  
7. John K. Moore (“Moore”) was elected to the Venice City Council in 2002 and reelected in 2008.  He is currently a Council Member.  Moore resides in a neighborhood located in close proximity to the Airport.    
jurisdiction and standing
8. Jurisdiction to hear this matter is conferred upon the FAA by Congress through the Airport and Airway Improvement Act of 1982 (“AAIA”), 49 U.S.C. § 47101 et seq.  The AAIA authorizes the FAA to grant federal funds to public airports for construction and other improvement projects via the AAIA’s Airport Improvement Program (“AIP”).  Recipients of such AIP grants must provide “written assurances” that they will comply with numerous statutory requirements.  49 U.S.C. § 47107(a).  Exh. 2: Sponsor Grant Assurances.  The FAA has jurisdiction to hear this Complaint and to order the Respondent to comply with its grant assurances pursuant to 14 C.F.R. Part 16.  
nature of the case AND BACKGROUND
9. In June of 1947 and pursuant to the Surplus Property Act of 1944, the federal government conveyed the Venice Municipal Airport, a general aviation facility, to the Respondent.  
10. The Airport includes approximately 835 acres of City owned property, about which approximately 490 acres are dedicated to aviation use.  One of the funding programs for the Airport is the AIP.
11. The source of the AIP funds is the Aviation Trust Fund (“ATF”).  The ATF was established by Congress in 1970 to provide funding for aviation capital investment programs.  The AIP funds are discretionary and distributed each year by the FAA.  Additional funding for Airport improvements is administered by the Florida Department of Transportation (“FDOT”).  
12. VJC is a Fixed Based Operator (“FBO”) that entered into a 25-year lease, containing a 5 year renewal option, with the City on May 23, 2006.  Exh. 3: VJC’s Lease. 
13. Pursuant to the lease, VJC is obligated to pay the City approximately $9,500 per month, in addition to all taxes and assessments as they became due, in return for the right to “[c]onduct any commercial aeronautical activity permitted under the Minimum Standards for Commercial Aeronautical Activities at Venice Municipal Airport . . . .” Exh. 4: Aeronautical Activities Minimum Standards Document, ¶ 14.
14. The minimum standards documents incorporated into the lease discuss the general operational requirements for FBOs and the City’s purported goals and philosophy concerning Airport operations: 
[T]he City of Venice’s goal in adopting these standards it to encourage development of quality aeronautical services and to make the airport available for commercial aeronautical activities on a fair and reasonable term without unjust discrimination . . . . It is the intent of the City of Venice to offer the maximum variety of aviation related services in order to maximize the choice of service providers to the public using the airport.  
Exh. 4: ¶¶ 1, 3(A).
15. Despite the above communicated goals and intent of the Respondent, it has over the past year and a half discriminated against VJC and taken active measures to limit aviation related services to the public. 
16. VJC’s lease with Respondent covers three separate parcels of land totalling approximately 9.7 acres.  One parcel is entirely vacant.  A building and hangers were located on sections of the other two parcels.  
17. Pursuant to obligations under the lease, VJC was required to demolish and rebuild the old hangers and refurbish the existing building, which it did.  The rebuilt hangers were filled upon completion in approximately the Fall of 2007.
18. In May 2008, VJC applied to the City for approval to construct four new hangars on approximately 2.5 acres of vacant land.  VJC sought to build four “box hangars,” designed to service medium-sized aircrafts, including smaller jets and turboprops. 
19. As an FBO at the Airport, VJC has the right to construct hangars not less than 6,400 square feet in floor space and to engage in the business of rental space for aircraft storage.  See Exh. 5: FBO Minimum Standards Document, ¶ 10.
20. The site plan for the hangars was reviewed by the City departments, and no flaws have been reported.  
21. By June 2008, VJC was ready to proceed to the final building stage when the City Council halted the permitting process and refused to permit construction.  The Council demanded to review a “concept plan” prior to allowing any further processing of permits.
22. VJC was permitted to make a 10-minute presentation on August 26, 2008 to the City Council.  The purpose of VJC’s presentation at the meeting was to obtain approval of the site plan so that the permitting process could continue.  The Council did not review the site plan and no vote was taken at the meeting.  
23. The intent of the Council in refusing to permit the hanger construction soon became clear.  A four-member majority voting bloc on the Council opposes expansion of the Airport to facilitate medium-sized aircraft.  
24. Respondent’s opposition to hangar construction, and any other Airport expansion that would provide services to jets and turbo-props, has been widely publicized in local newspapers.  See Composite Exh. 6: Venice Herald Tribune, Venice Gondolier Sun and Sarasota Herald Tribune Articles.
25. The FAA has developed an airport coding system called the Airport Reference Code (“ARC”) based on the operational and physical characteristics of the aircraft that operate at a particular airport.  The ARC has two components.  The first is depicted by letter and relates to aircraft approach speed.  The second is depicted by Roman numeral and relates to wingspan.  
26. The Airport has 2 runways, presently classified as C-II.  Category C represents aircrafts that approach at speed 121 knots or more but less than 141 knots.  Group II encompasses aircraft with wingspans of 49 feet up to but not including 79 feet.
27. The ARC classification of the Airport has been a controversial City Council issue.  Certain Council Members, including Lang, Martin, Moore and Zavodnyik, oppose the current classification and any further expansion of the Airport, and would like the Airport to be reclassified as B-II in order to limit the types of aircraft that are serviced.  See e.g., Exh. 7: Emails From Suzanne Lang to Kit McKeon Dated December 6, 2007; Composite Exh. 6-I.     
28. Reclassification of the Airport as B-II would diminish, rather than develop, aviation services provided by the Airport to the public and would significantly undermine the value of VJC’s lease.
29. Lang, Martin, Moore and Zavodnyik’s opposition to Airport growth is taken to placate a small group of residents that lived near the runway and to protect their own personal interests.  Upon information and belief, all four Council Members live within a mile of the Airport in adjacent neighborhoods that could potentially be affected by the hangar construction and noise stemming from service to jets and turbo-props.   
30. Council Member Lang has been most vocal in opposing any classification that “[w]ould encourage larger jet and plane traffic here, and, increase flying over homes in Gulf Shores, Golden Beach, Sunset Beach, etc. . . .” Exh. 8: Lang’s Correspondence to Interim City Manager Nancy Woodly Dated September 24, 2008.  According to Lang, “Maintaining the airport for pre-dominantly privately owned single engine aircraft should be the primary objective.”  Exh. 8.
31. Led by this four-person majority voting bloc, the Respondent refused to permit the hangars construction and has engaged in one stall-tactic after another since May of 2008 to ensure no such construction takes place.  
32. Much of the Council’s attempts to limit aeronautical activities at the Airport took place off the record -- in non-public meetings and correspondence -- in violation of the Public Records Act and the Florida Government-In-The-Sunshine Law.  Respondent and Council Members Lang, Martin and Moore were sued by Citizens for Sunshine, Inc. (a non-profit corporation) and its President in Sarasota Circuit Court in connection with the prohibited activities.  See Exh. 9: Complaint for Declaratory Relief and Injunction.  
33. This court action was ultimately settled when Respondent capitulated and agreed to provide electronic correspondence requested pursuant to the Sunshine and Public Records Act.  Upon information and belief, the City spent approximately $850,000 worth of taxpayers’ monies in legal fees and costs in connection with this action and the Plaintiffs are seeking a substantial multiplier of this amount in their fee application.
34. The Respondent has refused to authorize the hangar construction on VJC’s leasehold despite: (1) approving funding for new hangars that would be constructed elsewhere on the premises and run by the City in competition with VJC, and (2) permitting other tenants at the Airport to build and lease hangars to aircraft operators. 
35. There is a great need for construction of the hangars.  Upon information and belief, there are approximately 50 individuals and/or entities who are on a waiting list to rent hangar space at the Airport. 
36. On September 2, 2008, VJC submitted an informal Part 13 complaint to Ms. Rebecca R. Henry, the Program Manager, Planning and Compliance, at the Federal Aviation Administration.  See Exh. 10: VJC’s Informal Complaint to FAA.
37. The informal complaint discussed how Respondent’s actions in vetoing the hangar construction was in violation of federal law, assurances made under the AIP, and in derogation of the lease agreement.  See Exh. 10.
38. The FAA forwarded the informal complaint to the City of Venice.  On September 15, 2008, the City responded to the FAA regarding the allegations made in the informal complaint.  Respondent represented that VJC had never, in fact, presented a request to the City Council to approve construction of the hangars.  See Exh. 11: City’s Response to VJC’s Informal Complaint to FAA.
39. In a letter dated December 4, 2008, directed to the Interim Manager of the City of Venice, the FAA unequivocally communicated that “[t]he FAA agrees that the City of Venice appears to be unnecessarily delaying the expansion of the Venice Jet Center.  The FAA believes the airport sponsor’s primary concern in the development of airport properties should be meeting aeronautical demand . . . . These delays created by the city appear to be restricting aeronautical access to the Airport, which is inconsistent with federal grant assurances and the Surplus Property Deed restrictions.”  (emphasis added).  Exh. 12: FAA Letter Dated December 4, 2008. 
40. Despite the FAA’s warning, Respondent sought a second legal opinion as to whether it had authority to deny VJC’s request to construct hangars.  See Exh. 13: Kaplan Kirsch & Rockwell Legal Opinion.  
41. City Attorney Robert C. Anderson and the City’s outside counsel both advised Respondent that it “[w]ould run a significant risk of being found in violation of its grant assurances if it denied the Jet Center’s request to construct additional hangar space on its leasehold.”  Exh. 13: p. 1.  
42. The legal opinion also advised that “[a]n airport sponsor’s prime obligation is to operate the airport for aeronautical use, including the opportunity for leaseholders to develop airport property for aeronautical use” and provided examples of supporting FAA proceedings.  Exh. 13: p. 6. 
43. The City was further advised that “[t]he fact that the City has allowed other tenants to build and lease out hangars would make the City vulnerable to charges of unjust discrimination if it denied Jet Center the right to build hangars.”  Exh. 13: p. 9. 
44. After receiving its counsels’ legal opinion, Respondent continued to prevent construction of the hangars.  See Composite Exh. 6-G. 
45. On December 29, 2008, the FAA wrote to VJC in response to the Part 13 informal complaint and stated “[y]our application to expand at the Venice Municipal Airport has not been included on the City Council agenda for approval, and the FAA believes you are being unnecessarily delayed.  This position was communicated to the Interim City Manager, Dr. Nancy Woodly, on December 4, 2008.”  See Exh. 14: FAA Letter Dated December 29, 2008.  
46. The FAA stated “[i]t appears we will be unable to assist you with an informal resolution to this complaint, as the City of Venice is unwilling to address your application for expansion . . . If you are unable to resolve this matter informally, you are free to file a formal Part 16 complaint.”  See Exh. 14.
47. After Mr. Wiand was appointed Receiver over VJC on January 29, 2009, he continued VJC’s attempts to informally resolve this matter with Respondent.
48. On February 2, 2009, the Receiver submitted a written request to City Mayor Ed Martin on behalf of the VJC, requesting the City release its hold on the hangars project, which had been pending for 9 months.  See Exh. 15: Receiver’s Letter Dated February 2, 2009.  This request was denied. 
49. As yet another tactic to delay the hangar construction, Respondent asserted that the area sought to be improved was designated “terminal area” and “future apron area” in the Airport Layout Plan (“ALP”).  Respondent contended that, accordingly, the hangars could not be built in that space.  
50. The FAA responded to the City’s argument in correspondence dated February 19, 2009, and made it clear that those designations were not binding.  See Exh. 16: FAA Letter Dated February 19, 2009.  
51. The FAA, in fact, reiterated that “[t]he City of Venice may and should approve the construction of hangars in the area you mention.  The land is designated for aeronautical use, and the FAA has even processed a ‘pen and ink’ change to the 2000 ALP incorporating hangars in this vicinity. . . In accordance with my previous advice concerning airport compliance matters, this proposal should be forwarded to this office without further delay.”  Exh. 16 (emphasis added); Composite Exh. 6-F.
52.  No action was taken on behalf of the City to conform to the FAA’s request.  
53. On February 25, 2009, another letter was sent to the Mayor and City Counsel Members on behalf of the VJC asking that the City release its hold on the hangars construction and stating any further delay was unreasonable.  Exh. 17: VJC Letter Dated February 25, 2009.   This request was denied. 
54. On March 3, 2009, the FAA wrote to the Airport Manager, Mr. Fred Watts, and informed him that Respondent had improperly entered into a non-aeronautical lease for Airport property without obtaining prior approval from the FAA.  See Exh. 18: FAA Letter Dated March 3, 2009.  Respondent’s execution of the lease without FAA approval was in violation of FAA law. 
55. On March 10, 2009, the Receiver met with the City Council and again requested approval to build the hangars on behalf of VJC.  The City formally denied the Receiver’s request and intimated that VJC’s lease was void now that the company is in receivership.  See Composite Exh. 6-D; Composite Exh. 6-E.
56. This argument was yet another stall-tactic designed to prevent VJC from improving its leasehold.  Respondent sought another outside legal opinion to determine, in part, whether VJC’s lease is valid now that the company is in receivership and whether the City could terminate the lease due to the alleged fraudulent acts of VJC’s former manager.  See Exh. 19: Icard, Merrill, Cullis, Timm, Furen & Ginsburg, P.A. Legal Opinion  
57. The legal opinion concluded that the lease remains valid and enforceable and that Respondent could not terminate the lease due to alleged infractions of VJC’s former managing member. See Exh. 19: pp. 2, 14.
58. Mr. Wiand, the Receiver, has communicated to Respondent that he is interested in selling VJC and is in the process of submitting bids from prospective purchasers.  Every potential purchaser has indicated that ability to construct the hangars is a material consideration to their interest in purchasing.    
59. Despite its knowledge that the Receiver intends to sell the VJC to a willing and able purchaser, the City contended that approval of the hangars project required that the Receiver demonstrate the receivership had the financial ability to construct the hangars.  
60. The Receiver orally and in writing has assured the City that the receivership has the financial ability to construct the four hangars.  As of the date of this filing, the receivership fund contains over $10 million in assets and approximately $4 million in cash in bank accounts.  
61. On May 4, 2009, Mr. Wiand enclosed in a letter to Respondent the materials provided to potential buyers of the VJC.  Mr. Wiand stated that the City’s refusal to permit the hangar construction constituted an intentional interference with an asset of the federal Receivership and was prohibited by the order of the United States District Court in Tampa.  He again renewed his request that the City grant VJC authorization to construct the four proposed hangars.  Mr. Wiand indicated that if the request was yet again denied, he would be forced to seek legal avenues of redress.  See Exh. 20: Receiver’s Letter Dated May 4, 2009; Composite Exh. 6-B.  His request was denied. 
62. Council Member Lang has publicly stated she “would welcome a formal complaint process with the FAA” and has publically invited the filing of a federal enforcement proceeding against the City.  See Composite Exh. 6-H.
63. Respondent has recently publically expressed its intent to buy VJC for a nominal amount and develop its own hangars in competition with the VJC.  See Composite Exh. 6-A; Composite Exh. 6-C.
64. Respondent has assured it will comply will all applicable Federal laws, regulations, executive orders, policies, guidelines, and requirements as they relate to the application, acceptance and use of Federal funds.  Respondent’s refusal to grant VJC the right to construct and rent the hangars constitutes predatory conduct, is an illegal restraint of trade in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1, et. seq, and violates assurances made under the AIP. 
65. On May 18, 2009, the FAA acknowledged in email correspondence to Mr. Wiand that informal attempts to resolve this dispute have been ineffective and that, “[y]ou are free to file a Formal Part 16 Complaint . . . .”  Exh. 21: Email From the FAA Dated May 18, 2009. 
66. Mr. Wiand, on behalf of VJC, has met with the City and/or its representatives and communicated with the Respondent numerous times in attempts to secure approval for constructing the hangars.  He has complied with every requirement demanded by Respondent and countered every hurdle and delay tactic the City constructed in order to prevent VJC from improving its leasehold.  His efforts have been to no avail.  
67. Most recently, on June 19, 2009, the City Manager and City Attorney met with the Receiver, purportedly to discuss amicable resolution of this dispute.  The City Manager, however, repeatedly emphasized that he had no authority to negotiate on behalf of the City and no authority to make any proposal for resolution. 
vjc has been directly and substantially harmed
68. The VJC is entitled to institute this Part 16 Complaint because it is and has been doing business with Venice Municipal Airport and paying rent and other expenses to the Airport, and is directly and substantially affected by the City’s noncompliance with its legal duties under the AIP and revenue diversion.
69. VJC has paid approximately $237,500 in rent to the City, plus expended at least $100,000 in development costs, and has been denied the ability to develop its leasehold due to delay tactics taken by Respondent in direct contravention of assurances made under federal law.    
specific allegations
70. The City is bound by the terms of a quitclaim deed incorporating legal duties that arise from the Surplus Property Act.
71. As the sponsor for federal grants received by the Airport as part of the AIP, Respondent is obligated to comply with federal law and related FAA sponsor assurances.  
72. After accepting an AIP grant, Respondent’s assurances became a binding obligation between it and the federal government.  
COUNT I
Violation of Grant Assurance No. 1: Sponsor’s Violation of Federal Law
73. Complainant realleges paragraphs 1 through 72 as if fully set forth herein.
74. Respondent has assured it will comply with all applicable Federal laws, regulations, executive orders, policies, guidelines, and requirements as they relate to the application, acceptance and use of Federal funds. 
75. Respondent’s refusal to grant VJC the right to construct and rent the hangars is predatory conduct and an illegal restraint of trade in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1, et. seq.
76. Respondent’s violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1 et. seq., the Sherman Act, is a violation of Grant Assurance No. 1. 
COUNT II
Violation of Grant Assurance No. 5: Preserving Rights and Powers
77. Complainant realleges paragraphs 1 through 72 as if fully set forth herein.
78. Respondent has assured that it will not take or permit any action which would operate to deprive it of any or all of the terms, conditions, and assurances in the grant agreement without the written approval of the Secretary, and will act promptly to acquire, extinguish or modify any outstanding rights or claims of right of others which would interfere with such performance by the sponsor. 
79. Respondent’s actions, including: its attempts to downgrade the Airport to a B-II classification, repeatedly denying VJC the right to improve its leasehold, and construing VJC’s lease narrowly as not permitting construction of the hangars is a violation of Grant Assurance No. 5. 
COUNT III
Violation of Grant Assurance No. 19: Operation and Maintenance
80. Complainant realleges paragraphs 1 through 72 as if fully set forth herein.
81. Respondent has assured it will operate the airport in a manner necessary to serve the aeronautical users of the Airport.
82. Respondent’s actions in precluding construction of the hangars when there is an established need for hangar space and denying Airport users the ability to service medium sized aircraft such as smaller jets and turbo props is a violation of Grant Assurance No. 19. 
COUNT IV
Violation of Grant Assurance No. 22: Economic Nondiscrimination
83. Complainant realleges paragraphs 1 through 72 as if fully set forth herein.
84. Respondent is obligated as a sponsor receiving AIP funding to make the Airport available for public use on reasonable terms and without unjust discrimination to all types, kinds and classes of aeronautical activities, including commercial aeronautical activities offering services to the public at the airport.  
85. Respondent has actively limited a kind or class of aeronautical use of the Airport and has not demonstrated the limitation is necessary for the safe operation of the Airport or necessary to serve the civil aviation needs of the public.  
86. Respondent has refused to permit hangar construction that would provide utilization of medium-sized aircraft and aviation services to the public. 
87. This refusal is improperly driven by Respondent’s impermissible desire to limit the growth of the Airport.  
88. Operating the Airport for aeronautical use is Respondent’s primary obligation.  Part of this primary obligation is to provide the opportunity for leaseholders to develop airport property for aeronautical use. 
89. Respondent has an obligation to make suitable areas or space available on reasonable terms to those who are willing and otherwise qualified to offer the needed services.  
90. There is a need for hangar space on the leasehold and VJC has demonstrated it is qualified to offer the needed services.  
91. VJC has submitted a proposal to build hangars on reasonable and favorable terms and Respondent has failed to negotiate the hangar project in good-faith.
92. Attempting to construe VJC’s lease terms in a manner that limits the Airport’s aeronautical utility by restricting development is inconsistent with Respondent’s Federal obligations and contrary to VJC’s rights under the lease and incorporated documents. 
93. Respondent has permitted other tenants to build and lease out hangars to aircraft operators.
94. Respondent has purposefully refused to allow the construction of hangars on usable land within the boarders of the Airport in contravention of the requirements of the FAA and the assurances it made under the AIP.  
95. Respondent’s refusal is an unreasonable denial of access to aeronautical development and a violation of Grant Assurance No. 22.  
COUNT V
Violation of Grant Assurance No. 23: Exclusive Rights
96. Complainant realleges paragraphs 1 through 72 as if fully set forth herein.
97. Respondent has assured it would permit no exclusive right for the use of the Airport by any person providing, or intending to provide, aeronautical services to the public.
98. Respondent may not, either directly or indirectly, grant or permit any person, firm, or corporation, the exclusive right at the Airport to conduct any aeronautical activities. 
99. Upon information and belief, Respondent presently operates 144 hangars at the Airport.  
100. There is a need for additional hangar space on the leasehold and VJC has demonstrated it is qualified to offer the needed services.  
101. Respondent has denied VJC the right to construct and lease hangars in competition with the City and other tenants who have been granted the right to build and lease hangars.  
102. Respondent desires to terminate VJC’s lease or buy the VJC in order to eliminate the competition completely and take greater control of the Airport.  
103. Respondent has granted special rights or privileges to others making the same or similar desired use of the Airport and has denied this right to VJC.
104. Respondent has not demonstrated the limitation directed at VJC is necessary for the safe operation of the Airport or necessary to serve the civil aviation needs of the public.  
105. Respondent’s refusal to permit VJC to construct and rent hangars is a violation of Grant Assurance No. 23. 
 list of exhibits
106. Pursuant to 14 C.F.R. §§ 16.15 and 16.23(b), the documentary support for th allegations contained in this Complaint that is presently available to VJC, in the exercise of reasonable diligence, are served concurrently with this Complaint, are incorporated herein by reference as though fully set forth, and are identified as follows:
1. Order Appointing Receiver Over VJC.
2. Sponsor Grant Assurances.
3. VJC’s Lease. 
4. Aeronautical Activities Minimum Standards Document.
5. FBO Minimum Standards Document.
6. Composite Exhibit: Venice Herald Tribune, Venice Gondolier Sun and Sarasota Herald Tribune Articles.
7. Lang’s Emails to Kit McKeon Dated December 6, 2007.
8. Lang’s Correspondence to Nancy Woodly Dated September 24, 2008.  
9. Complaint for Declaratory Relief and Injunction.  
10. VJC’s Informal Complaint to FAA.
11. City’s Response to VJC’s Informal Complaint to FAA.
12. FAA Letter Dated December 4, 2008. 
13. Kaplan Kirsch & Rockwell Legal Opinion.  
14. FAA Letter Dated December 29, 2008.  
15. Receiver’s Letter Dated February 2, 2009.  
16. FAA Letter Dated February 19, 2009.  
17. Receiver’s Letter Dated February 25, 2009.
18. FAA Letter Dated March 3, 2009.
19. Icard, Merrill, Cullis, Timm, Furen & Ginsburg, P.A. Legal Opinion
20. Receiver’s Letter Dated May 4, 2009.
21. Email From the FAA Dated May 18, 2009. 
CORRECTIVE ACTION
107. VJC respectfully requests that FAA issue an order: (1) denying Respondent future federal AIP grants and suspending current grand fund payments for  6 months or until the violations alleged herein are rectified, wherever period is longer; (2) requiring Respondent to submit a corrective action plan within 20 days of a adverse Director’s Determination demonstrating how it intends to eliminate the violations; (3) requiring Respondent to grant VJC the right to build the four hangars as proposed within 10 days of the order; and (4) making an explicit finding that VJC is entitled to construct hangars on its leasehold pursuant to the terms of the lease and Venice Municipal Airport Minimum Standards documents.  
SEc. 16.21 certification
The undersigned counsel certifies that substantial and reasonable good faith efforts to resolve this disputed matter informally prior to filing this Complaint have been made on behalf of the VJC and there is no reasonable prospect for timely resolution.  The extensive efforts taken by VJC to obtain resolution are detailed above and, among other efforts, include: (1) sending numerous letters to Respondent in efforts to secure approval of the hangars project; (2) holding numerous meetings with Respondent in efforts to secure approval of the hangars project; and (3) filing an informal Part 13 Complaint with the FAA.  Any efforts by Respondent to amicably resolve this dispute informally have been nothing more than thinly veiled tactics to further delay construction of the hangars on VJC’s leasehold.  The FAA has stated that informal efforts to resolve this matter have been ineffective and VJC may properly initiate this Part 16 proceeding at this time. 
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that I have this day served the foregoing Part 16 complaint on the following persons at the following addresses by first-class mail:
	City of Venice
401 West Venice Avenue
Venice, Florida 34285
Robert C. Anderson
Hall & Anderson, P.A
1314 East Venice Avenue, Suite E
Venice, Florida 34285
	


	s/____________ ___________  
Gianluca Morello, FBN 034997
Gianluca.morello@fowlerwhite.com
Dominique Pearlman, FBN 0044135
                                                                        Dominique.Pearlman@fowlerwhite.com
FOWLER WHITE BOGGS, P.A.
501 E. Kennedy Blvd., Suite 1700
Tampa, FL  33602
Phone (813) 228-7411, Fax (813) 229-8313
Attorneys for the Complainant, Venice Jet Center, LLC
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